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THE BIG (DATA) SPILL—PRINTOUTS
OF DIGITAL FILES COULD BLANKET...
WELL, THE GULF OF MEXICO™

By William W. Belt, Jr., Esqg

William W. Belt Jr., is a shareholder in LeClairRyan and leader of the law
firm’s Richmond, Virginia-based discovery solutions practice. He has worked
on major e-discovery projects as part of numerous mass tort and commer-
cial litigation cases.

Nearly two decades ago, as a young lawyer working on the Exxon
Valdez case, I walked into a warehouse filled with documents and sat
at a table. A box of papers was placed in front of me, and it was
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LETTER FROM THE EDITOR

Dear Subscribers,

The October issue of The Environmental Counselor continues to in-
clude a special Updates section covering litigation news and proposed
legislation related to the expansive oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. The
number of lawsuits filed against BP and Transocean has the potential
for unprecedented quantities of discovery documents. William W. Belt,
Jr., from LeClairRyan discusses discovery in the digital age and its ap-
plication to the gulf oil spill lawsuits.

Beyond the oil spill, this month’s issue includes an article by Jes-
sica K. Ferrell of Marten Law on the Ninth Circuit’s recent opinion
on injunctive relief for environmental harms. Daphne W. Trotter and
Brandon H. Barnes of McDermott Will & Emery address potential
legislative changes to the Toxic Substances Control Act.

We thank the authors for continuing to provide our readers with the
latest developments in environmental law.

Very truly yours,
Rowan C. Seidel
Attorney Editor
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my job to sift through that box in search of discoverable
documents that could help my firm’s client, a navigation
and steering manufacturer, fend off accusations that the
ship’s steering mechanism had somehow caused the di-
sastrous oil spill in Prince William Sound.

When I finished with that box, I knew there was a
warehouse full of others ready to take its place. For a
moment, I thought of Sisyphus, the figure from Greek
mythology who was condemned to the endless loop of
pushing a boulder up a mountain, only to watch it roll
down again—over and over, for all eternity.

The Exxon Valdez disaster, which unfolded in a mat-
ter of hours March 24, 1989, was at the time the largest
oil spill ever to occur in U.S. waters. Images of dead and
dying salmon, otters, and seabirds outraged the nation,
especially the thousands of Alaskans whose livelihoods
were potentially threatened by the heavy sheen of ooz-
ing crude. Eventually, the pollutants fouled hundreds
of miles of coastline and thousands of square miles of
ocean. Like the 11 million gallons of oil that spewed
from the Exxon Valdez itself, the volume of paperwork
in the case was truly daunting in scope and scale.

Difficult as it might be to fathom, however, the discov-
ery challenges in the Exxon Valdez litigation, which liter-
ally involved multiple warehouses full of documents, will
look like child’s play when weighed against what is sure
to come in the lawsuits over the BP-Deepwater Horizon
catastrophe. The BP case is more complex, yes. How-
ever, the real reason this case will involve such a massive
amount of information boils down to two words: elec-
tronic discovery.

In the Exxon Valdez case, Captain Joseph Hazelwood
never sent a text message about whether or how much
he had been drinking prior to the disaster. There was no
instant-messaging back and forth between Exxon execu-
tives expressing concern about the ship’s sonar naviga-
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tion system, or an e-mail trail related to the overall safety
of the iceberg-choked route. The third mate in charge
of the Exxon Valdez’s wheelhouse never “tweeted” his
friends to complain of fatigue and excessive workload.
No camera webcast the oil spilling from the tanker.

In the Deepwater Horizon case, however, the poten-
tial for such digital smoking guns looms large. More to
the point, the imperative to preserve and produce poten-
tially relevant documents, whether they exist as ones and
zeros on a server or as printed words on a page, is now
the indisputable law of the land. And that means dealing
with volumes of data so large that even conceiving of
them can be difficult.

A "MOUNTAIN RANGE" OF DATA

For some perspective, a gigabyte of data amounts to
roughly a pickup truck full of books. Imagine sorting
through 1,000 pickup trucks full of books. That is a tera-
byte. Now imagine a vast expanse, perhaps somewhere
out in the Mojave Desert, in which a million pickup
trucks full of books cover a parking lot that stretches as
far as the eye can see in all directions. That would be a
petabyte of data.

In speaking with colleagues from across the country
on matters related to electronic discovery, I periodically
hear of cases that actually approach this mountainous—a
mountain range is more like it—volume of information.
The four major lawsuits related to the Enron debacle, for
example, are said to have involved 250 terabytes of data.
By comparison, the entire print collection at the Library
of Congress, the federal institution charged with sustain-
ing and preserving “a universal collection of knowledge
and creativity for future generations,” stands at about
19 terabytes.

Exactly how massive the discovery challenges will be
in litigation sparked by the BP disaster is anyone’s guess,
of course. However, given the complexities, including
the magnitude and duration of the spill, the regulatory
and criminal questions, the finger-pointing and recrimi-
nations already occurring between the companies and
shareholders involved, and the number and kind of po-
tential plaintiffs from across the Gulf Coast, it would not
be surprising if the volume of data in this case reached
the mind-bending petabyte threshold.

Of course, reviewing this many files and documents
one by one would be impossible. Attorneys working on
the BP case will be forced to rely on methodologies typi-
cally associated more with government antiterror and
counterintelligence efforts than with mass torts or com-
mercial litigation. Sophisticated data-mining technolo-
gies will enable them to search not just for keywords,
but for relevant concepts and patterns, in much the same
way the CIA and FBI now use database dragnets to ferret
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out potential spies and terror suspects. Leveraging this
technology will significantly narrow the scope of what
attorneys and criminal investigators will have to actually
read and study as they pursue their cases.

However, the effort will also require a level of discern-
ment that only human intelligence can provide. People,
not machines, will have to narrow the search parameters
by identifying key players involved in all the relevant or
potentially relevant events that occurred before, during
and after the April 20 explosion of the Deepwater Ho-
rizon oil rig. That explosion killed 11 platform workers
and injured 17 others, and the subsequent leak of BP’s
Macondo well gushed 4.9 million barrels of oil into the
Gulf of Mexico before BP was successful in plugging the
well August 6.

DISCOVERY IN THE DIGITAL AGE

In theory, no attorney would consciously overlook
a potential smoking gun just because the document in
question happened to be on a hard drive. Faced with
the prospect of sifting through an avalanche of e-mails,
spreadsheets, text messages, and other electronic files,
however, many lawyers tried at first to pretend their
profession could remain a proverbial “paper chase.” Of-
ten they would talk to each other at the beginning of a
case and agree to keep electronic discovery off the table.
There was a huge problem with this strategy: 95% of the
information involved in a case today will likely exist in
a digital format. E-mail alone is virtually omnipresent
in the American workforce. Evidence, in other words, is
electronic. Also, ignoring evidence—whatever its form—
is nothing short of professional misconduct.

Naturally, it has taken some time for legislatures and
courts to adjust to the new demands of the digital age.
Many states have moved to explicitly eliminate the false
“option” of ignoring electronically stored information.
For example, California’s Civil Discovery Act, which
Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger signed into law in
June 2009, requires attorneys to pay full attention to the
digital dimensions of the cases they try.

At the federal level, meanwhile, a number of key de-
cisions have reinforced the imperative to preserve and
produce digital documents. The groundbreaking e-dis-
covery case Zubulake v. UBS Warburg, which was heard
between 2003 and 2005 in the U.S. District Court for the
Southern District of New York, established definitive re-
quirements for the way attorneys must handle electronic
files. Zubulake v. UBS Warburg LLC, 220 ER.D. 212
(S.D. N.Y. 2003); Zubulake v. UBS Warburg LLC, 229
FR.D. 422 (S.D. N.Y. 2004). Judge Shira Scheindlin pre-
sided over the now-famous case, a discrimination lawsuit
in which the defendant essentially sought to avoid pro-
ducing relevant e-mails.

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

In the wake of that decision, several amendments to
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure went into effect that
further cemented the place of electronic discovery in
American jurisprudence. These guidelines have heavily
influenced state measures like California’s Civil Discov-
ery Act.

More recently, Judge Scheindlin issued a lengthy deci-
sion detailing, among other things, the necessity of is-
suing written “hold” notices to employees whenever a
company becomes involved in litigation or has reason
to believe a claim will be brought. Pension Commit-
tee of University of Montreal Pension Plan v. Banc of
America Securities, LLC, 685 F. Supp. 2d 456 (S.D. N.Y.
2010). The intent of such notices is to make sure relevant
documents, including e-mail and other digital data, are
preserved.

The basic message of these cases is that electronic dis-
covery (e-discovery) is part of litigation and cannot be ig-
nored. By now, this should be clear enough to everyone.
However, exactly how litigants should handle potentially
discoverable electronic documents is by no means black
and white. In recent decisions, both Judge Scheindlin
and Judge Lee H. Rosenthal (of the Southern District of
Texas) have wrestled with some of the thorny questions
related to proper behavior on e-discovery. Many other
important questions have yet to be definitively answered.
This legal uncertainty is likely to complicate the BP case
in manifold ways.

A COMPLICATED DISASTER

Devastating as the Exxon Valdez disaster was, the
basic facts of the accident itself were relatively straight-
forward: The ship ran aground on Bligh Reef, and its
hull was torn open in an ill-fated attempt to back up
and return to open sea. The Valdez spill was a one-time
event that unfolded in a matter of hours, whereas the BP
disaster dragged on for months.

In working on the Exxon case, attorneys were essen-
tially dealing with the past tense. With the exception of
damages, it was a backward-looking exercise. In the BP
case, the possibility that key players might have gone
“offline” in order to hide information that threatened to
expose the company or themselves to civil or criminal
liability will be far greater.

After all, real-time communications during the ago-
nizingly long spill event were constant and ongoing.
They involved a stunning array of public and private of-
ficials, experts, and stakeholders. A vast amount of this
information will clearly be deemed potentially relevant
to any ensuing investigation and/or litigation. Of critical
importance, moreover, is the tragic fact that 11 people
lost their lives in the explosion. The stakes in the BP case
are simply higher.
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Given all of this, the extent to which officials at BP and
rig owner Transocean took immediate steps to preserve
digital information will be under a microscope as the in-
vestigations and lawsuits commence. It is a safe bet that
BP executives listened carefully to litigation experts in
their in-house legal department. They know full well that
their electronic communications will be under close scru-
tiny. These days, in fact, employees at nearly every level
have a decent grasp of what data will be stored on com-
pany servers and desktop hard drives. Many know how
to use software settings to get around these protocols.

Did company officials, during the three-plus months
that oil was spewing into the Gulf, check the “turn journ-
aling off” option on their instant messaging software? Did
an official who, prior to the accident, sent and received an
average of, say, 65 text messages per week suddenly stop
sending and receiving texts once the accident occurred?
These kinds of questions will preoccupy investigators and
attorneys, but the implications of such behavior would
be unclear. Under current e-discovery guidelines, there is
an explicit responsibility to preserve information that is
under the company’s custody and control. However, is
“going dark” with electronic communications the same as
actively shredding printed documents? Such issues could
well be front and center in this case.

UNCHARTED WATERS

Indeed, even the limits of “custody and control” are
unclear. In the case of BP, how far does this responsibility
extend? While digital messages and documents exchanged
between BP and one of its subsidiaries would clearly be
included, Transocean—a major player in the event—was,
in fact, a contractor. The exact terms of the contractual
relationship between these parties could play a role in de-
termining the limits of e-discovery in the case. Another
gray area is just how far companies must go in preserving
information that tends to exist only temporarily.

When an employee uses a company-owned computer
to visit a Web site, that unique address will be stored in
random access memory that can be erased, either by the
employee or someone in the IT department. Employee
Internet searches could be relevant to a case, but judges
are only now beginning to examine what information
falls under a court’s jurisdiction. After all, there is no re-
quirement that each of us, upon walking into our cubes
or offices, turn on an audio recorder to preserve all our
oral communications with coworkers. There are limits to
what constitutes discoverable information. Where those
limits reside is of major concern to corporations and
their lawyers.

When it comes to preservation of data, absolute posi-
tions, such as asking an IT department to stop overwrit-
ing all backup tapes and to cancel all automatic data-de-

4

letion protocols for e-mail, might actually be technically
impossible. In some cases, it could clog servers and over-
whelm the system.

Also, there are content-related questions. Given the rise
of social networking for both personal and business uses,
the line between public and private communication is be-
coming blurrier by the day. Employees’ “personal” posts
on Facebook, Twitter, or Web sites like YouTube are some-
times carried out using company-owned equipment, leaving
a data footprint on the company’s servers and desktop hard
drives. Should this information be included in a metadata
search conducted during the course of litigation?

While the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure now pro-
vide some guidance on electronic discovery, the very first
one of those rules is the directive to resolve cases in a
timely fashion. These potentially conflicting imperatives
will force attorneys working on the BP case to make
some exceedingly difficult decisions. They must expedite
the process by narrowing the volume of information to
be reviewed, but in so doing they might well miss critical
information that could have been important to the case.
If they were to err too far on the side of caution, however,
the litigation and appeals could drag on for an eternity.
(Sisyphus, anyone?)

The last appeals in the Exxon Valdez case—litigation
set in motion by an accident that occurred a full 21 years
ago—were finally settled in 2009. Let’s say Twitter (or
some rough equivalent) still exists 40 years from now.
It makes me wonder whether a future attorney will send
her friends the following tweet: “OMG! They just settled
the BP case—and it’s 2050!”

ENDNOTE

** This article appeared in the August 18, 2010, West-
law Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw Jour-
nal Environmental 1. Copyright © 2010 Thomson
Reuters.

NINTH CIRCUIT REASSERTS
SLIDING SCALE INJUNCTION
STANDARD, GIVES GREAT
WEIGHT TO ENVIRONMENTAL
HARMS™

By Jessica K. Ferrell

Jessica K. Ferrell practices environmental and natural re-
source litigation at Marten Law Group. She can be contacted
by telephone at 206-292-2636, or by e-mail at jferrell@
martenlaw.com.
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A Ninth Circuit panel has reasserted the viability of a
“sliding scale” approach to injunctive relief, even though
the Circuit had appeared to discard that test following
the Supreme Court’s 2008 ruling in Winter v. Natural
Resources Defense Council.' The Winter decision, which
reversed a Ninth Circuit ruling that applied principles of
the sliding scale approach,? reaffirmed a four-part test
for injunctive relief, including a demonstrated likelihood
of success on the merits. However, in Alliance for the
Wild Rockies v. Cottrell,®> the Ninth Circuit concluded
last month that the Supreme Court had not addressed
the question of whether various flexible approaches to
injunctive relief survived Winter. The panel held that
preliminary injunctive relief is still allowed on a weaker
showing on the merits, so long as the balance of hard-
ships imposed by an injunction “tips sharply” toward
the plaintiffs. The court also put great weight on what
some courts might consider relatively modest claims of
environmental harm, suggesting an ongoing sympathy to
preliminary injunctive relief in environmental cases.

LECGAL BACKGROUND

In 2008 and 2010, the United States Supreme Court
reiterated its four-part test for injunctive relief in envi-
ronmental cases in Winter and Monsanto Co. v. Geertson
Seed Farms (addressing permanent injunctive relief).* The
standard requires a showing of: (1) likelihood of success
on the merits; (2) likelihood of irreparable harm in the
absence of preliminary relief; (3) that the balance of equi-
ties between the parties favors the movant; and (4) that
the public interest would not be disserved.® In both opin-
ions, the Court reversed holdings by the Ninth Circuit,
which had applied standards that the Court found overly
lenient (i.e., requiring only a possibility rather than a
likelihood of irreparable harm). See S. Brandt-Erichsen,
Supreme Court Rules on Preliminary Injunction Stan-
dard in Environmental Cases, Marten Law News (Nov.
13, 2008); S. Jones, Supreme Court Reasserts Standard
for Injunctive Relief in NEPA Cases, Marten Law News
(June 28, 2010).

In Alliance, the Ninth Circuit applied an arguably dif-
ferent and lower standard, holding that the sliding-scale
“serious questions” test still applies. Under this approach,
a court may issue a preliminary injunction by balancing
the four Winter factors, such that “a stronger showing of
irreparable harm to plaintiff might offset a lesser showing
of likelihood of success on the merits ... where the likeli-
hood of success is such that ‘serious questions going to
the merits were raised and the balance of hardships tips
sharply in [plaintiff’s] favor.””¢ The court seems to equate
raising “serious questions” with demonstrating probabil-
ity of success on the merits—even though in the pre- Win-
ter formulation of the test, “serious questions” equated

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

to the lesser standard of “possibility of success on the
merits.” In fact, it was issuance of an injunction on the
basis of only a possibility of success that was the basis
for the Supreme Court’s reversal in Winter. Under Al-
liance, the bar for irreparable injury also appears lower
than that set forth by the Supreme Court, and courts in
the Ninth Circuit can grant the extraordinary remedy of
injunctive relief should they decide that one factor in the
test outweighs another and equity favors the plaintiffs. If
the opinion stands, injunctive relief will (continue to) be
an easier remedy for environmental plaintiffs to obtain in
the Ninth Circuit than in some other circuits.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

In 2007, the Rat Creek Wildfire burned about 27,000
acres in the Beaverhead-Deerlodge National Forest in
Montana. In 2009, the Forest Service made an “Emer-
gency Situation Determination for the Rat Creek Salvage
Project” (the “emergency determination”) under which
salvage logging of between 1,600 and 27,000 acres of
burned trees was allowed, without being subject to the
Forest Service’s administrative appeals process. Accord-
ing to the Forest Service, the purpose of the logging is to
recover and use timber from trees that are dead or dying
as a result of the fire, reforest the harvested areas with
healthy trees, supply wood to the forest products indus-
try, and prevent transmission of dwarf mistletoe by cut-
ting those trees infested with it.” The Forest Service de-
termined that the logging project would not significantly
affect the quality of the human environment within the
meaning of the National Environmental Protection Act,
so an Environmental Impact Statement (an “EIS”) was
not required.

Plaintiffs, a coalition of environmental advocacy
groups, filed suit in federal district court, alleging that
the Forest Service’s emergency determination violated
the Appeals Reform Act (the “ARA”), the National For-
est Management Act, and NEPA. Plaintiffs sought a pre-
liminary injunction. The district court, applying Winter,
found that plaintiffs did “not show a likelihood of suc-
cess on the merits, nor that irreparable injury is likely
in the absence of an injunction,” so denied the request.
Plaintiffs filed an interlocutory appeal.

ANALYSIS

VIABILITY OF “SLIDING SCALE"” INJUNCTIVE
RELIEF TEST AFTER WINTER

Considering plaintiffs’ appeal in Alliance, the Ninth
Circuit acknowledged the test for injunctive relief that
the Supreme Court reiterated in Winter. It also acknowl-

5
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edged that Winter requires plaintiffs to “establish that
irreparable harm is likely, not just possible”—which is
all the Ninth Circuit required before Winter—“in order
to obtain a preliminary injunction.”® Yet it held that the
sliding scale approach, under which a court can grant a
request for injunctive relief if a strong showing of likely
success on the merits outweighs a weak showing of ir-
reparable harm, still applies.

First, the court noted that the majority in Winter did
not “explicitly discuss the continuing validity of the
‘sliding scale’ approach to preliminary injunctions em-
ployed by th[e Ninth Circuit] and others.” Judge William
Fletcher also noted that Justice Ginsberg mentioned in
her dissent to Winter that the “Court has never rejected
[the sliding scale] formulation and I do not believe it does
so today.”’

Judge Fletcher acknowledged that, although the
Ninth Circuit had not addressed the viability of the slid-
ing scale approach after Winter, it has acknowledged
in other opinions that, “[t]o the extent that our cases
have suggested a lesser standard [than that articulated
in Winter], they are no longer controlling, or even vi-
able.”'? Three other circuits have addressed the question
of whether their versions of the sliding scale test survived
Winter. The Fourth Circuit held that it did not." Accord-
ing to the Ninth Circuit’s interpretation, the Seventh and
Second Circuits held that it did.

In 2009, the Seventh Circuit acknowledged that,
while irreparable injury alone is not sufficient to support
equitable relief (“there also must be a plausible claim on
the merits, and the injunction must do more good than
harm”), “[h]Jow strong a claim on the merits is enough
depends on the balance of harms: the more net harm an
injunction can prevent, the weaker the plaintiff’s claim
on the merits can be while still supporting some prelimi-
nary relief.”'? In an opinion containing a more explicit
retention of the sliding scale test, the Second Circuit
wrote that Winter and related jurisprudence “have not
undermined [the Supreme Court’s] approval of the more
flexible approach .... None of the ... cases comments at
all, much less negatively, upon the application of a pre-
liminary injunction standard that softens a strict ‘likeli-
hood’ [of success] requirement in cases that warrant it.”!3

In the Ninth Circuit, plaintiffs must still satisfy the
Winter test, but “a preliminary injunction is appropriate
when a plaintiff demonstrates... that serious questions
going to the merits were raised and the balance of hard-
ships tips sharply in the plaintiff’s favor.”!*

APPLICATION OF THE “SLIDING
SCALE"

Applying the Winter factors in combination with the
sliding scale approach, the Ninth Circuit found that in-

6

junctive relief was appropriate in Alliance. First, it con-
sidered whether the environmental groups’ members
would suffer irreparable harm if prevented from using
and enjoying 1,652 acres of forest. The Forest Service
noted that the logged areas covered only about 6% of
the acreage damage by fire."” The Ninth Circuit found
plaintiffs’ showing sufficient to establish likely irrepa-
rable harm, emphasizing that “environmental injury, by
its nature, can seldom be adequately remedied by money
damages and is often permanent or at least of long dura-
tion, i.e., irreparable.”®

With respect to plaintiffs’ likelihood of success on the
merits, the Ninth Circuit determined that, because the
Forest Service considered the local economy in making
its emergency designation for logging—a factor that the
ARA does not allow it to consider in that context—plain-
tiffs raised “serious questions on the merits of its claim”
regarding the validity of the emergency determination.

Balancing the hardships, the Ninth Circuit found that
plaintiffs would suffer more harm than defendants, as
logging will result in “work and recreational opportuni-
ties [being] ... irreparably lost,” and plaintiffs were de-
nied their right to seek an administrative remedy through
the Forest Service process due to the emergency deter-
mination. The Ninth Circuit found that the Forest Ser-
vice’s potential loss of between $16,000 and $70,000 in
revenue, as well as its potential inability to mitigate the
mistletoe infestation, did not weigh as heavily.

Finally, the Ninth Circuit weighed the public interest
in (a) between 18 and 26 temporary jobs for one year
and associated benefits to the local economy against (b)
“preserving nature and avoiding irreparable environmen-
tal injury.”'” The court determined that the scales tipped
sharply toward the latter interest.

Accordingly, the Ninth Circuit reversed the district
court and remanded the case with direction to enjoin the
logging project.

CONCLUSION

In Winter and related cases, the Supreme Court ex-
plicitly rejected the Ninth Circuit’s lower standards for
finding irreparable harm in the context of injunctive relief
requests, requiring that harm to be likely, not just pos-
sible. In Alliance, the Ninth Circuit purports to follow
Winter. Whether it actually does is arguable. Regardless,
the court has set a low bar to establish irreparable harm,
possibly improving plaintiffs’ prospects for obtaining in-
junctive relief in environmental cases.

ENDNOTES

* © 2009 Marten Law Group. All rights reserved. Re-
printed with permission. Marten Law Group pro-
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vides the material and information contained in this
article for informational purposes only. This article is
not a substitute for legal advice. Please contact your
legal counsel for specific advice and/or information.
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TSCA REFORM IN THE HOUSE
& SENATE: EXTENDING EPA’'S
REACH™

By Daphne W. Trotter and Brandon H. Barnes

Daphne W. Trotter is a partner at the Washington, D.C.,
office of McDermott Will & Emery. She may be reached at
dtrotter@mwe.com. Brandon H. Barnes is an associate at

the firm’'s Washington, D.C., office. He may be reached at
bbarnes@mwe.com.

The Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), which au-
thorizes the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)
to regulate the safety of chemicals distributed in com-
merce, is the only major environmental statute that has
not been reauthorized since original enactment in 1976—
but change may be coming. Bills recently introduced in
Congress to amend TSCA could have far-reaching effects
on the chemical industry, potentially subjecting a broad
range of substances manufactured or processed in or im-
ported into, the United States to a program like REACH
(Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation, and Restric-
tion of Chemicals), instituted in the European Union.

On July 22,2010, Representatives Rush (D-IL), Wax-
man (D-CA), Castor (D-FL), DeGette (D-CO), Scha-
kowsky (D-IL), and Sarbanes (D-MD) introduced the
Toxic Chemicals Safety Act of 2010. In many respects it
resembles the bill introduced by Senator Lautenberg (D-
NJ) as the Safe Chemicals Act of 2010 on April 15, 2010.
Both bills would significantly change chemical regulation
in the United States.

Regulators and certain members of industry appear
to agree that amendment of the statute may be desirable,
given the evolution of both the chemical industry and
public awareness of health and safety issues, over the last
30+ years. Under the Obama administration, EPA has
identified assuring the safety of chemicals as one of its
top four priorities. Federal legislation appears possible
in 2011 or 2012.
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THE PROPOSED REFORMS

SAFETY DETERMINATIONS

The centerpiece of the proposed legislation in both
houses of Congress is an EPA determination that every
chemical substance (possibly including those in mixtures
and articles) allowed in commerce meets an established
safety standard. TSCA broadly defines “chemical sub-
stance” as any “organic or inorganic substance of a
particular molecular identity.” Thus substances such
as metals and metal alloys can be viewed as “chemi-
cal substances” under its provisions. In what would be
a significant shift in the law, the bills place the burden
on industry to show that the chemical substances they
manufacture, process and/or import meet such a safety
standard. Under this approach, the manufacturing, pro-
cessing, and importation of chemicals that do not meet
the safety standard would be prohibited.

While the parameters of the final “safety standard”
are not clearly identified, EPA would appear to have
broad authority in formulating the standard. Both bills
suggest that the regulated industry would have to estab-
lish a reasonable certainty that no harm will result to the
general population or to vulnerable populations such as
children, pregnant women, the elderly, and those who
work with chemical substances, as a result of aggregate
exposures to the substance in question.

The bills treat safety determinations for “existing”
chemicals (e.g., chemicals that are on the TSCA inven-
tory already) and “new” chemicals (and new uses of ex-
isting chemicals) differently. For existing chemicals, EPA
would establish a priority list of 300 “existing” chemi-
cal substances for which safety determinations must be
made. EPA must supplement the list with additional ex-
isting chemicals as others are removed until all chemi-
cal substances in commerce have been subject to a safety
determination.

Under the Senate bill, this list must be established
within 18 months of enactment. The House bill estab-
lishes a priority list of 19 chemicals including Bisphe-
nol A, formaldehyde, n-hexane, hexavalent chromium,
methylene chloride, trichloroethylene, and vinyl chlo-
ride, among others, and would require EPA to establish
a complete list of 300 within 12 months.

The Senate bill generally would require manufacturers
to make an initial safety determination submission within
30 months after a chemical is placed on the priority list, and
for EPA to make a safety determination within 180 days
of that submission. The House bill generally would require
EPA to make a safety determination within 30 months of a
chemical’s placement on the list. However, it would require
a safety determination for those substances on the list at the
time of enactment within 18 months thereafter.

EXCEPTIONS TO SAFETY STANDARD
REQUIREMENT

Both bills would prohibit manufacture or processing
of a new chemical unless a premanufacture notice and
other supporting information, including certain health
and safety data, is submitted. With certain exceptions,
it would also be necessary for EPA to determine that the
substance has met the safety standard. The Senate bill
generally would require EPA to make a safety determina-
tion within 180 days of submittal of the premanufacture
notice, whereas the House bill would give EPA up to nine
months to make such a determination.

Both bills contain EPA authority to grant exceptions to
the premanufacturing notice procedure, and to manufac-
turing prohibitions or conditions that have been placed on
production as described below. Potential bases for grant-
ing exceptions include, among others, specific exceptions
based on national security interests, the potential that a
substance’s unavailability would significantly disrupt the
national economy, and critical or essential uses.

CONDITIONS ON MANUFACTURE OR
PROCESSING

The bills would provide EPA with broad authority to
impose conditions through its safety determination on
manufacturing and processing in order to ensure a chemi-
cal meets the safety standard. The bills would expressly
authorize EPA to impose the following:

e  Limits on quantity manufactured, processed, or dis-
tributed in commerce;
e  Limits on concentration for a particular use;

e Limits on quantity distributed in commerce for par-
ticular use;

e Warning requirements;

e Record-keeping requirements;

e  Conditions on manner of commercial use;
e  Requirements regulating disposal; and

e Mandate to develop risk reduction plan

BROAD DATA GATHERING AUTHORITY

Both bills would require the submittal of significant in-
formation to EPA and provide EPA with additional data
gathering authority and responsibility. They provide that:

¢  EPA must define a “minimum data set” that industry
has to submit for each chemical, including a broad
range of information on substance characteristics,
hazard, exposure, and use of chemical substances
and mixtures.

© 2010 Thomson Reuters
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e EPA has broader authority to require, by rule or
order, additional testing of chemicals necessary to
implement the law.

e Manufacturers must identify the chemicals that
they manufacture or process, as well as their manu-
facturing facilities, known health and safety studies
associated with each chemical, and other informa-
tion relating to health and safety effects.

AVAILABILITY OF ADMINISTRATIVE
AND JUDICIAL REVIEW

The bills provide broad opportunities for seeking
review of EPA safety determinations and other EPA
decisions. Any person can petition the EPA for a rede-
termination of whether a chemical meets the safety stan-
dard. If new information raises a credible question as to
whether the chemical substance continues to meet the
safety standard, EPA will have to make a redetermina-
tion of compliance.

The Senate bill would also limit the opportunity for
judicial review of some EPA decisions. The bill specifi-
cally precludes judicial review of (1) EPA decisions to
place a chemical substance on the priority list; and (2) an
EPA determination that a manufacturer or processor has
not met the burden of proof that a chemical substance
meets the safety standard.

PUBLIC AVAILABILITY OF
INFORMATION/PROTECTION
OF CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS
INFORMATION

Under the proposed bills, health, and safety infor-
mation submitted to EPA will be made available on the
internet. EPA must establish an electronic database and
make available “significant information” that it receives.
Industry will still be able to claim protection for Confi-
dential Business Information (CBI). Although health and
safety information is not necessarily protected from dis-
closure under the current law, the bills shift the empha-
sis of the law’s data disclosure provisions to make more
clear the preference to make health and safety studies
available to the public. Furthermore, the House bill gives
EPA the authority to impose penalties on manufacturers
who improperly designate information as CBL

OPEN ISSUES

The end product of these TSCA reform efforts remains
uncertain. It is clear, however, that the House and Sen-
ate bills raise important issues that could have significant

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

consequences for industry if the legislation ultimately
passes. Such issues include:

e What is the appropriate safety standard;

e Who should have the burden of proving a chemical
is safe or unsafe;

e To what extent do obligations imposed under the
safety standard extend down the manufacturing
and processing chain;

e To what extent should EPA be able to regulate the
manufacture and processing of chemical substances
through a safety determination;

e Which EPA decisions will be subject to judicial or
administrative review;

e To what extent can manufacturers/processors work
together to develop data, share data or use the data
of others, and to what extent would shared efforts
raise antitrust concerns;

e  Will trade secrets and confidential information be
compromised; and

e How will the program be funded.

ENDNOTE

** © 2010 McDermott Will & Emery. All rights re-
served. Reprinted with permission.

GULF OIL SPILL UPDATES

ALABAMA SUES BP, TRANSOCEAN
OVER GULF OIL SPILL

State v. BP

Note: The following appeared in the August 25 2010,

Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL

3307504. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

Alabama is the first state to file environmental law-
suits against BP and several other companies over this
summer’s oil spill, asserting the defendants’ “negligence”
and “reckless behavior” caused the disaster. State ex rel.
King v. BP PLC, No. 2:10-690, complaint filed (M.D.
Ala. Aug. 12, 2010); State ex rel. King v. Transocean
Ltd. et al., No. 2:10-691, complaint filed (M.D. Ala.
Aug. 12, 2010).

Attorney General Troy King filed two lawsuits in the
U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Alabama,
alleging the defendants are liable under the Oil Pollution
Act, 33 U.S.C.A. § 2701, for damages to the state’s natu-
ral resources and to real and personal property owned by
the state and its citizens.

The suits seek unspecified economic, compensatory,
and punitive damages.
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One of the complaints names BP and its affiliates as
defendants. The other names several companies involved
in the well or drilling process: Transocean Ltd., Hallibur-
ton Energy Services, Anadarko Petroleum Corp., Mitsui
& Co., and Cameron International Corp.

The suits claim the defendants’ actions, including the
following, led to the spill:

e  Refusing to install an acoustically activated, re-
mote-control shutoff valve.

e Using defective materials.

e  Failing to note or fix “dangerous and recurring
problems” or to institute protective measures.

e Accelerating drilling operations to improve revenue
streams.

e  Using dangerous substances in the oil cleanup.

In an August 13 statement King said he disagrees with
those who say the suits are premature.

“As an Alabama lawyer, I say that, if anything, based
on BP’s broken promises, their history of saying one thing
and doing another—and now, new information that they
have been secretly working to gain a legal advantage—
further delay can only further damage our people,” the
statement said.

According to King, BP is retaining all the best expert
witnesses so they will be unable to testify against the
company. Further, the company is selling assets, perhaps
to divest itself of assets that American courts could reach
to satisfy a judgment.

Additionally, BP is developing a report to assist in its
argument that the company was not “grossly negligent,”
which would limit its liability, King said.

OIL SPILL MDL JUDGE ISSUES
PRETRIAL ORDER, SETS HEARING

In re Oil Spill by the Oil Rig Deepwater Horizon

Note: The following appeared in the August 20 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3258658. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

The New Orleans federal judge overseeing pretrial
discovery in the litigation stemming from the Deepwater
Horizon oil disaster will hold a conference set September
17 to set proposed trial dates and discuss other “house-
keeping” duties. In re Oil Spill by the Oil Rig Deepwa-
ter Horizon in the Gulf of Mexico on April 20, 2010,
No. 10-02179, pretrial order entered (E.D. La. Aug. 10,
2010).

U.S. District Judge Carl Barbier of the Eastern District
of Louisiana said on August 10 that, until he names liai-
son counsel for the consolidated actions, he is appointing
James Roy of Domengeaux Wright Roy & Edwards in

10

Lafayette, Louisiana, and Stephen Herman of Herman
Herman Katz & Cotlar in New Orleans interim liaison
counsel for the plaintiffs.

Don Haycraft of Liskow & Lewis in New Orleans,
one of the attorneys representing BP in the litigation, will
serve as interim liaison counsel for the defendants.

More than 300 lawsuits have been filed since the April
20 BP oil well explosion and resulting spill. Most of the
cases were filed in federal courts in Texas, Florida, Loui-
siana, Mississippi, and Alabama, the states whose shore-
lines were closest to the spill and where the fishing and
tourism industries are suffering.

On August 10, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation transferred 77 spill-related lawsuits from five
states to Judge Barbier’s court. More than 200 potential
tag-along cases could follow.

BP, which leased the Deepwater Horizon rig from
Transocean Ltd., is one of the companies being sued, but
the list of the defendants is growing

Judge Barbier also named additional interim liaison
counsel for the defense August 12:

e  Kerry Miller of Frilot LLC in New Orleans, counsel
for Transocean.

¢ Donald Godwin of Godwin Ronquillo PC in Dal-
las, counsel for Halliburton Energy Services Inc.,
which did cement work on the well and well cap.

e Phil Wittmann of Stone Pigman Walther Wittmann
LLC, counsel for Cameron International Corp.,
which supplied the device that was designed to pre-
vent a blowout at the well site.

e Deborah Kuchler of Kuchler Polk Schell Weiner
& Richeson in New Orleans, counsel for Anadar-
ko Petroleum, which owned a 25% interest in the
BP well, and MOEX Offshore 2007 LLC, which
owned a 10% interest.

Judge Barbier said he intends to appoint a plaintiffs steer-
ing committee to conduct and coordinate the discovery
stage of the litigation. Applications must be filed with the
Eastern District of Louisiana clerk’s office by September
27.

The judge will also consider defense recommendations
for membership on the defendants steering committee.

OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE ORDER

Judge Barbier said he expects counsel to familiarize
themselves with the Manual for Complex Litigation
(Fourth) before the September 17 conference.

A Web site will be created for the oil spill MDL and
will be accessible by going to the Eastern District of Loui-
siana’s Web site and clicking on the link for MDL cases.

© 2010 Thomson Reuters
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Finally, Judge Barbier stressed that all parties and their
counsel have a duty to preserve evidence that may be rel-
evant to the litigation. The duty extends to documents
and data, including calendars, diaries, electronic mes-
sages, voice mail, e-mail, hard drives, films, and charts.

FIFTH CIRCUIT WILL NOT BAR JUDGE
FROM HEARING OIL SPILL SUITS

In re Cameron Int’l Corp.

Note: The following appeared in the August 18,2010,

Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw

Journal Environmental 2. Copyright © 2010 Thom-

son Reuters.

The Fifth U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has refused
to order a federal judge to recuse himself from hearing
dozens of lawsuits over the BP oil disaster even though
he owned debt instruments issued by two of the defen-
dant companies. In re Cameron Intern. Corp., 2010 WL
2930736 (5th Cir. 2010).

The panel agreed with U.S. District Judge Carl Barbier
of the Eastern District of Louisiana, who said ownership
of debt instruments is different than ownership of corpo-
rate stock because the debt instruments do not equate to
an ownership interest in the company itself.

After the April 20 explosion of the Deepwater Ho-
rizon rig and resulting oil leak in the Gulf of Mexico,
hundreds of lawsuits were filed alleging personal injury
and environmental and economic damages in various ju-
risdictions, including the Eastern District of Louisiana.

Nearly all the cases name BP, rig owner Transocean,
Cameron International Corp., which manufactured the
oil well blowout preventer, and cement contractor Hal-
liburton Energy Services Inc. as defendants.

Dozens of the cases were assigned to Judge Barbier in
April and May. At the time, he owned corporate bonds
issued by Halliburton International Co. and Transocean.

The judge said he was not aware the bonds were in
his portfolio and instructed his broker to sell them on
June 2.

He said that even though he was not required to do
so by law, divestment was best to avoid any appearance
of bias.

After he sold the debt instruments, the defendants ar-
gued he still should recuse himself since they were “fi-
nancial instruments” under the terms of the recusal stat-
ute, 28 U.S.C.A. § 455 (b).

Judge Barbier denied the defendants’ motion in an
oral opinion.

Citing the Code of Conduct for U.S. Judges, he rea-
soned that bond ownership does not imply any owner-
ship interest in the company issuing them.

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

The defendants petitioned the Fifth Circuit for a writ
of mandamus to direct Judge Barbier to recuse himself
from any cases related to the oil spill.

The appeals panel, however, determined the judge did
not err in concluding the bonds did not qualify as finan-
cial interests under the federal recusal statute.

On August 10, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Liti-
gation centralized 77 lawsuits in Judge Barbier’s court.
More than 200 potential tag-along cases could follow.

GULF FISHERMAN SUES BP OVER
HEALTH EFFECTS FROM OIL LEAK

Carlisle v. BP

Note: The following appeared in the August 18, 2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 3. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.

An Alabama recreational fisherman is charging in a
state court lawsuit that he suffered serious personal inju-
ries from exposure to waters polluted by the Deepwater
Horizon oil spill. Carlisle v. BP P.L.C. et al., No. 10-
0943, complaint filed (Ala. Cir. Ct., Madison County
June 30, 2010).

Obie Carlisle filed the lawsuit June 30 in the Mobile
County Circuit Court against BP and 15 other defen-
dants involved in the oil disaster.

The lawsuit is noteworthy because it involves a pri-
vate citizen engaged in recreational activity rather than
occupational exposure, according a statement released
by the law firm representing Carlisle, Motley Rice in Mt.
Pleasant, South Carolina.

The complaint says Carlisle was flounder fishing by
wading in the waters of Mobile Bay, Alabama, May 28
and 29, more than a month after the BP spill began.
There were no signs posted warning of the dangers of
exposure from oil and toxins contained in the water, the
suit says.

Afterward, Carlisle experienced painful rashes,
nosebleeds, and shortness of breath, according to the
complaint.

“For Obie Carlisle, BP not only damaged his health,
causing serious injury; it took away his greatest joy,
which was to fish in the gulf’s once-fertile waters,” At-
torney Ron Motley said in the statement.

The defendants “cut corners on safety, ignored federal
and state laws and regulations, failed to prepare for the
disaster, and then, after the explosion, tried to cover up
the severity of the spill and downplay its catastrophic
impact,” the lawsuit says.

1
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The complaint says that since the BP well’s blowout
preventer failed and the wellhead pipe ruptured April 20,
unprecedented amounts of raw crude oil and chemical
dispersants have contaminated the waters of the Gulf of
Mexico and the state of Alabama.

The oil contains benzene, toluene, and polyaromatic
hydrocarbons, all of which are known carcinogens, the
plaintiff says.

The complaint cites the June 15 congressional testi-
mony of Dr. Lisa Kaplowitz of the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services concerning possible health
problems after the BP oil disaster.

Kaplowitz said exposure to crude oil and dispersants
may cause health problems for many years to come as oil
can remain toxic in the environment.

The complaint includes claims of negligence, strict li-
ability for abnormally dangerous and ultra-hazardous
activities, and strict liability for product defect.

The lawsuit is seeking compensatory and punitive
damages.

HOUSE PASSES BILL OVERHAULING
OFFSHORE DRILLING

Note: The following appeared in the August 18, 2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 9. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.

The House of Representatives passed omnibus legisla-
tion July 30 in response to the BP oil disaster that would
eliminate the current $75 million cap on liability related
to oil spills.

The so-called CLEAR bill—the Consolidated Land,
Energy and Aquatic Resources Act of 2010, H.R. 3534—
passed by a vote of 209-193.

The legislation incorporates some provisions of two
other House bills involving the Deepwater Horizon spill,
the Blowout Prevention Act, H.R. 5626, and the Oil Spill
Accountability and Environmental Protection Act of
2010, H.R. 5629.

The key elements of the Blowout Prevention Act that
have been incorporated into the 222-page bill include a
provision ensuring that oil companies would be held to a
higher level of accountability after a spill.

To get a drilling permit, an oil company CEO would
have to certify that the well design is safe, that the blow-
out preventer has redundant systems for all scenarios and
failure modes, and that the company can promptly con-
trol and stop a blowout if the preventer and other control
measures fail.

12

OTHER PROVISIONS OF THE CLEAR BILL

The provisions from the Oil Spill Accountability and
Environmental Protection Act incorporated into the
CLEAR bill include the amendment of the Oil Pollution
Act, 33 U.S.C.A. § 2701, to eliminate the $75 million li-
ability cap for offshore facilities.

This provision would apply to Deepwater Horizon oil
spill claims brought before the date of the bill’s enact-
ment so that all liable parties, including BP, will be re-
sponsible for 100% of the cleanup costs and damages to
third parties.

Another provision would require that all vessels en-
gaged in drilling activities in the U.S. exclusive economic
zone (up to 220 miles from the coast) be U.S.-flagged
vessels owned by American citizens. All offshore facilities
must be built in the U.S., the legislation says.

This would ensure that the vessel would be subject
to federal safety regulations, U.S. citizens would be em-
ployed on the vessel, and U.S. taxes would be paid on the
operations of the vessel and by the personnel on the ship.

Under the CLEAR bill, the presidential commission
reviewing the BP oil spill would have subpoena power to
call witnesses and gather information. The House passed
similar legislation, H.R. 5481, June 23.

The bill would also revamp federal regulation of oil
and gas operations by creating three agencies that would
split the responsibilities of granting leases, collecting roy-
alty fees, and overseeing operations.

The Environmental Protection Agency would be re-
quired to establish new procedures for the use of chemical
oil dispersants to ensure their safety in the environment.

The legislation as passed also includes an amendment
by U.S. Representative Charlie Melancon, D-La., to lift
the current moratorium on deepwater drilling in the Gulf
of Mexico. The amendment would only lift the drilling
ban for companies that meet the new safety requirements
set by the Interior Department July 12.

Commenting on the legislation, Florida Republican
John Mica, the ranking minority leader on the Transpor-
tation and Infrastructure Committee, said in a statement
that the bill “overtaxes, over-regulates and costs Ameri-
can jobs.”

SENATE BILL WOULD REQUIRE
TESTING OF DISPERSANTS

Note: The following appeared in the August 18,2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 10. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.
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A bill that would amend the Clean Water Act to re-
quire testing of chemical dispersants used in oil spills was
introduced July 28 by U.S. Senator Frank Lautenberg,
D-N.]J.

The Safe Dispersants Act, § 3661, cosponsored by
Maryland Democrats Benjamin Cardin and Barbara Mi-
kulski, would require better testing, approval and disclo-
sure of the health effects of dispersants.

The bill would also require the Environmental Protec-
tion Agency to conduct a study to determine whether ad-
ditional regulations are needed.

“In the past three months, BP has dumped more than
1 million gallons of chemical dispersants into the Gulf,”
Lautenberg said in a statement. “Because these chemicals
have not been fully tested, relief workers, families and
wildlife up and down the coastline have been put in the
middle of a dangerous science experiment.”

Chemical dispersants applied in the Gulf were not
required to undergo long-term health or environmental
testing, Lautenberg said.

Also, the exact ingredient concentrations of the disper-
sants have not been made available to the public.

The bill was written to address the limitations of exist-
ing law, according to Lautenberg.

Current law allows the EPA to approve dispersants
without receiving any specific safety data.

The use of dispersants has been the subject of lawsuits
filed in the aftermath of the BP oil leak in the Gulf.

Some have been filed by environmental groups under
the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C.A. § 552, seek-
ing to discover the ingredients in the dispersants used by
BP and any studies that measure health effects on wildlife.

Other lawsuits have been filed by cleanup workers
who say they are suffering health problems from being
exposed to dispersants.

NOAA REOPENS 5,000 SQUARE
MILES OF GULF FISHING AREA

Note: The following appeared in the August 18 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3220330. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administra-
tion (NOAA) announced on August 10 that it has re-
opened 5,144 square miles of the Gulf of Mexico to com-
mercial and recreational fishing.

However, more than 52,000 square miles of Gulf wa-
ters remain closed to fishing.

The area to be reopened is off the Florida Panhandle
and, at its closest point, is about 115 miles northeast of
the site of the BP well that began gushing oil April 20.
Although the company said on August 5 that it is cement-

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

ing operations on the well are complete, the drilling of a
relief well to seal it off completely is still underway.

NOAA said data has shown no oil in the reopened
area since July 3, and fish caught in the area and tested
have shown no signs of contamination.

The reopening was announced after consultation with
the Food and Drug Administration (FDA).

“Consumer safety is NOAA’s primary concern, which
is why we developed rigorous safety standards in con-
junction with the FDA and the Gulf states to ensure that
seafood is safe in the reopened area,” NOAA administra-
tor Jane Lubchenco said in a statement.

The agency will continue to take samples for testing
from the newly reopened area. Additionally, it has be-
gun dockside sampling to test fish caught throughout the
Gulf by commercial fishermen.

WHERE'S THE OIL NOW

NOAA released its estimates of what has happened to
the 4.9 million barrels of spilled oil on August 4.

It said the vast majority of the oil has evaporated or
been burned, skimmed, recovered from the wellhead, or
dispersed.

The agency said a third of the oil was captured or
mitigated through response operations such as skimming
and burning.

Twenty-five percent of the oil naturally evaporated or
dissolved, and 16% was dispersed naturally into micro-
scopic droplets.

The remainder, about 26%, is on or just below the
surface as residue and weathered tarballs; has washed
ashore or been collected from the shore; or is buried in
sand and sediments.

“The estimates do not make conclusions about the
long-term impacts of oil on the Gulf,” the agency’s state-
ment said.

UPDATES

OIL DRILLING

JUDGE HALTS OIL LEASE WORK IN CHUKCHI SEA

Native Vill. of Point Hope v. Salazar

Note: The following appeared in the August 18, 2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 4. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.
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An Alaska federal judge has halted all activity under
an oil-and-gas lease the U.S. government granted to Shell
and others in the Chukchi Sea, ruling the Interior Depart-
ment failed to study the environmental impacts of drill-
ing before awarding the leases. Native Village of Point
Hope v. Salazar, 2010 WL 2943120 (D. Alaska 2010),
order clarified, 2010 WL 3025163 (D. Alaska 2010).

Judge Ralph Beistline of the U.S. District Court for the
District of Alaska did not vacate the leases but ordered
the Interior Department and the Bureau of Ocean Energy
Management, Regulation and Enforcement (formerly the
Minerals Management Service (MMS)) to analyze the
environmental impact of natural-gas development in the

Chukchi Sea.

The leases allow the development of natural gas, but
that operation was omitted from the environmental im-
pact statement.

The judge found MMS also violated the National En-
vironmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C.A. § 4321, by failing
to determine whether missing information in the EIS was
relevant or essential.

“Many of the statements [in the EIS] acknowledge
missing information about the Chukchi Sea environment
and the potential effects of the lease sale on wildlife and
subsistence,” Judge Beistline said.

The statements reflect a lack of information about the
species and habitat in the Chukchi Sea, and that arbitrary
failure by MMS warranted remand, he said.

In 2008, the Native Village of Point Hope, an Inupiat
Eskimo whaling community, teamed with several envi-
ronmental groups in challenging the lease sale in federal
court.

The groups alleged the final environmental impact
statement violated NEPA and the Administrative Proce-
dure Act, 5 U.S.C.A. § 706.

According to the legal group Earthjustice, which rep-
resented the plaintiffs, MMS approved the leases without
adequately analyzing the potential impacts of the sale.

The Chukchi Sea is home to endangered polar bears,
bowhead whales, and other species of fish and wildlife,
the group says.

Any oil spill in the area would have a devastating im-
pact since no technology exists to clean up an oil spill in
the Arctic waters, according to Earthjustice.

“The past few months have taught us all a painful
lesson about the risks of offshore drilling,” Sierra Club
Executive Director Michael Brune said in a statement.

“A spill would be the nail in the coffin for arctic com-
munities and wildlife like polar bears, which are already
struggling to survive,” he said.
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MICHIGAN OIL SPILL

FAMILIES AFFECTED BY MICHIGAN OIL SPILL FILE
CLASS ACTION

Watts v. Enbridge Inc.

Note: The following appeared in the August 25 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3307506. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

Three families living in close proximity to bodies of
water polluted by a leaking oil pipe have filed a class-
action lawsuit against the pipe’s owner, Enbridge Inc. of
Canada. Watts et al. v. Enbridge Inc. et al., No. 1:10-753,
complaint filed (W.D. Mich. Aug. 2, 2010).

The suit filed in the U.S. District Court for the West-
ern District of Michigan names as defendants Enbridge
and subsidiaries Enbridge U.S., Enbridge Energy Co., En-
bridge Energy L.P., Enbridge Pipelines Lakehead L.L.C.,
and Enbridge Energy Management L.L.C.

The plaintiffs are Cheryl and Darwin Watts, Rhonda
and Gerald Stepp, and Ginny and Steven Lewis. They al-
lege trespass, nuisance, negligence, violations of Michi-
gan’s Natural Resources Act and Environmental Protec-
tion Act, and strict liability for abnormally dangerous
activity.

According to the suits, Enbridge owns and maintains
a 30-inch oil pipeline that since July 25 has leaked crude
oil into Talmadge Creek, which flows directly into the
Kalamazoo River in southern Michigan.

The plaintiffs estimate more than 800,000 gallons of
oil have escaped so far, “contaminating the waters, coat-
ing and killing wildlife, and creating a toxic stench in an
area spreading over the more than 30 miles.”

The plaintiffs all own creek or riverfront property that
has been contaminated with oil stemming from recent
flooding of Talmadge Creek and the Kalamazoo River.
This has affected their quality of life and, in some cases,
business operations, the suits say.

The plaintiffs cite “news reports” that say the Depart-
ment of Transportation, which oversees the pipeline,
repeatedly warned the Enbridge defendants to address
issues regarding the pipeline’s safety and performance.
Further, the Environmental Protection Agency report-
edly has called Enbridge’s long-term cleanup strategy
“deficient.”

Finally, the spillage could spur the release of contained
contaminants that existed on or near the riverbed due to
prior pollutant releases, the plaintiffs say.

They note many residents already have relocated.

The proposed class includes “all persons impacted by
the oil spill who have suffered damage to property, loss of
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enjoyment of their property, damage to business, or loss
of the use of their property and homes.”

The district court has subject matter jurisdiction un-
der the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C.A. § 1332,
because diversity of citizenship exists and class members’
claims in the aggregate exceed $5 million, the plaintiffs
assert.

CLEAN AIR ACT

$10 BILLION LAWSUIT FILED OVER BP’S TEXAS
CITY REFINERY

Fontenot v. BP Prods. N. Am.

Note: The following appeared in the August 20 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3258660. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

BP is facing a class-action lawsuit over an equipment
malfunction at its Texas City refinery that allegedly re-
leased 500,000 pounds of pollutants into the air between
April 6 and May 15. Fontenot et al. v. BP Products North
America Inc., No. 10-00295, complaint filed (S.D. Tex.
Aug. 3, 2010).

The suit, filed on August 3 in the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of Texas, charges BP Products
North America did not inform Texas City officials of the
scale of the release until it was over.

Hamilton Fontenot and other named plaintiffs repre-
senting the class are seeking compensatory damages, as
well as punitive damages in excess of $10 billion.

The complaint estimates the proposed class will num-
ber in the tens of thousands.

The class will consist of a subclass of people who
worked at the refinery between April 6 and May 16 and a
subclass of people who lived or worked within the Texas

City limits during the release.

The named plaintiffs allege the release occurred be-
cause of a failure in the refinery’s “ultra-cracker” unit,
which converts petroleum products into high-octane gas-
oline. The hydrogen compressor in the unit is responsible
for trapping noxious chemicals. When it went offline, BP

sent the gases to a flare, the suit alleges.

The pollutants released from the refinery include ben-
zene, carbon monoxide, propane, and other toxic chemi-
cals, according to the complaint.

The Texas City refinery, capable of producing more
than 460,000 barrels per day, is the third largest petro-
leum refinery in the U.S. and the “largest single polluter”
in the country, the complaint says.

“The refinery has a long history of violations that
have resulted in nearly 20 deaths since 2005, hundreds of
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injuries, hundreds of toxic releases, and numerous envi-
ronmental and safety violations,” the plaintiffs say.

In March 2003, a series of fires and explosions killed
15 workers and injured more than 1,000 people.

Investigators found the explosion was caused by or-
ganizational and safety deficiencies at all levels, the suit
says.

Since the 2005 explosion, four more people have died
at the refinery, the suit says.

Also, in a four-year period, there were more than 500
leaks, spills, and releases at the refinery, especially ben-
zene releases, according to the complaint.

In late 2009 the Occupational Safety and Health Ad-
ministration (OSHA) cited BP for more than 700 issues,
many of which had been outstanding for more than four
years, the suit says.

Last year OSHA levied a fine of more than $87 mil-
lion based on BP’s conduct, the largest in the agency’s
history.

As for the recent discharge of pollutants, the complaint
says, tens of thousands were injured and their long-term
health was jeopardized after they were exposed to pollut-
ants while working at the refinery or simply by living or
working in Texas City.

The suit alleges negligence, common-law assault and
battery, and private nuisance.

AIR POLLUTION (PUBLIC NUISANCE)

TVA WINS IN APPEAL OF $1BILLION AIR
POLLUTION RULING

North Carolina v. TVA

Note: The following appeared in the August 18, 2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 5. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.

The Fourth U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled a
lower court’s reasoning was flawed in determining Ten-
nessee Valley Authority (TVA) power plant emissions in
two other states constituted a public nuisance in North
Carolina. North Carolina, ex rel. Cooper v. Tennessee
Valley Authority, 2010 WL 2891572 (4th Cir. 2010).

Reversing an injunction, the panel said that if the rul-
ing by U.S. District Judge Lacy Thornburg of the West-
ern District of North Carolina were to stand, it would
result in a “balkanization of clean-air regulations and a
confused patchwork of standards to the determent of in-
dustry and the environment alike.”

North Carolina sued the TVA in 2006, claiming air
pollution emitted by the utility’s plants crossed the state’s
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border in unreasonable amounts, creating a public nui-
sance. The complaint said the facilities harmed human
health and the state’s ecosystem and increased financial
burdens on North Carolina.

Western North Carolina is home to multiple parks,
including Great Smoky Mountains National Park and
Chimney Rock State Park, plus attractions such as the
Appalachian Trail, Blue Ridge Parkway, and Biltmore
Estate.

The state sought an injunction requiring the TVA to
install air-pollution-control equipment and to remedy
the current harm to public health and the environment.

The TVA said it had already begun to reduce the emis-
sions from its facilities and denied that particles enter
North Carolina in unreasonable amounts.

Judge Thornburg granted the state’s injunction request
concerning four power plants located within 100 miles
of North Carolina: John Sevier, Bull Run and Kingston
in Tennessee, and Widows Creek in Alabama.

She ordered the plants to install and maintain scrub-
bers and “selective catalytic reduction” devices, or SCRs.

Scrubbers use a chemical process to remove sulfur
dioxide from the flue gas in electricity-generating units.
SCRs convert nitrogen oxide in the flue gas into molecu-
lar nitrogen and water.

Both scrubbers and SCRs also remove a significant
amount of mercury from a smokestack plume, the judge
said.

Judge Thornburg said the TVA must install all remain-
ing equipment by the end of 2013 and maintain and op-
erate the SCRs and scrubbers year-round. She estimated
the installations will cost the utility just more than $1
billion.

Finally, the judge established caps for nitrogen oxide
and sulfur dioxide emissions from each electricity-gener-
ating unit once all SCRs and scrubbers are in place.

TVA appealed, and the Fourth Circuit reversed.

The panel said Judge Thornburg’s ruling compromised
principles of federalism by applying North Carolina law
to TVA plants located in Alabama and Tennessee.

North Carolina’s seeking a public nuisance injunction
was not an appropriate course to guarantee clean air for
its citizens, the appeals court held.

The state could sue the TVA under the Clean Air Act,
42 U.S.C.A. § 740, if it believes the utility is not comply-
ing with its permits under the statute, the panel noted.

The Fourth Circuit directed Judge Thornburg on re-
mand to dismiss the lawsuit against the TVA.
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SUPERFUND

“OWNER/OPERATOR"” STATUS UNDER CERCLA
ATTACHES WITH CLEANUP, NINTH CIRCUIT SAYS

Cal. Dep’t of Toxic Substances Control v. Hearthside
Residential Corp.

Note: The following appeared in the August 18,2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 6. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.

In a case of first impression, the Ninth U.S. Circuit
Court of Appeals has ruled that “owner and operator”
status under the Superfund law is determined at the time
that cleanup costs are incurred, not at a later date when a
government agency sues to recoup those costs. California
Dept. of Toxic Substances Control v. Hearthside Resi-
dential Corp., 2010 WL 2853762 (9th Cir. 2010).

Plaintiff Hearthside Residential Corp. had argued that
it was not the “owner and operator” of a contaminated
property under the law at the time the state of California
filed a lawsuit seeking reimbursement.

Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C.A. § 9601, the
“owner and operator” is primarily responsible for clean-
up of contaminated sites.

According to the opinion, Hearthside bought an un-
developed tract of wetlands known as the Fieldstone
property in Huntington Beach, California, in 1999. The
property was adjacent to several residential parcels that
Hearthside did not own.

When the company purchased the Fieldstone property,
it knew it was contaminated with PCBs, the opinion says.

In 2002 Hearthside entered into a consent order with
the California Department of Toxic Substances Control
in which it agreed to clean up the PCB contamination on
the property.

At the same time, the state determined that an adja-
cent residential site also was contaminated with PCBs,
which it alleged had come from the Fieldstone property.

Although the state considered Hearthside responsible
for investigating and cleaning up the residential site in
addition to the Fieldstone property, Hearthside disagreed
and limited its cleanup to its own property. The state then
undertook the residential site cleanup, completing it in
2003.

In 2005, shortly after the state certified that the Field-
stone property cleanup was complete, Hearthside sold it
to the California State Lands Commission.

In 2006, the state sued Hearthside in the U.S. District
Court for the Central District of California, seeking reim-
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bursement for the residential site cleanup. It asserted that
Hearthside was responsible because the company owned
the Fieldstone property, which was the source of the resi-
dential site contamination, at the time the state cleaned
up the residential site.

Hearthside responded that “owner” status was deter-
mined at the time the recovery suit was filed—not at the
time cleanup costs were incurred—and that the company
was not responsible for the residential site cleanup costs
because it sold the Fieldstone property before the state
filed suit.

The court found that Hearthside was an “owner
and operator” of the Fieldstone property, but noted the
“dearth of meaningful or controlling case law” on the
question of when “owner and operator” status attached.

The parties jointly requested that the question be cer-
tified for immediate appeal to the Ninth Circuit.

The three-judge panel agreed with the lower court that
the purposes of CERCLA support a holding that “own-
er” status is determined at the time a response-recovery
claim accrues, not at the time the lawsuit is initiated.

CLEAN WATER ACT

MARYLAND FEDERAL JUDGE ALLOWS CWA
CLAIMS AGAINST PERDUE

Assateague Coastkeeper v. Hudson Farm

Note: The following appeared in the August 18,2010,
Westlaw Journal Environmental, 31 No. 2 Westlaw
Journal Environmental 8. Copyright © 2010 Thom-
son Reuters.

A federal judge in Maryland has ruled that an envi-
ronmental group may proceed with allegations that Per-
due Farms contributed to Clean Water Act violations at a
poultry farm. Assateague Coastkeeper v. Alan and Kris-
tin Hudson Farm, 2010 WL 2924661 (D. Md. 2010).

Perdue and the farm’s owners failed to convince Senior
U.S. District Judge William M. Nickerson of the District
of Maryland to dismiss the suit for failure to provide suf-
ficient notice and specify necessary facts to state a claim.

The judge denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss
on those grounds but agreed to dismiss three plaintiffs
from the case, leaving Waterkeeper Alliance as the only
plaintiff.

According to the memorandum opinion, the plain-
tiffs sent a notice letter to Hudson Farm and Perdue last
December that said Plaintiff Kathy Phillips had sampled
water flowing from the farm on five separate occasions.
The samples purportedly indicated that the water con-
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tained pollutants, including fecal coliform and E. coli
bacteria, that discharged into the Pocomoke River.

The letter specified the dates of the alleged discharg-
es and informed Perdue and the Hudson Farm of the
groups’ intent to sue under provisions of the Clean Wa-
ter Act, 33 U.S.C.A. § 1251, if the violations were not
corrected.

Phillips, Waterkeeper Alliance, Assateague Coastkeep-
er, and the Assateague Coastal Trust filed suit March 1
after Phillips tested the water several times in January
and February and again found high levels of pollutants,
the opinion says.

According to the complaint, Hudson Farm and Per-
due violated § 1311(a) of the Clean Water Act, which
prohibits pollutant discharges from a “point source”
into navigable waters of the United States in the absence
of a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System
(NPDES) permit issued by the Environmental Protection
Agency.

Under the NPDES program, Hudson and other farms
that are “concentrated animal feeding operations” are
point sources under the CWA, the opinion says.

The lawsuit contends that Perdue is liable for the pol-
lution because it owns Hudson Farm’s chickens and con-
trols many aspects of its production, including supplying
feed and equipment.

Perdue and Hudson Farm filed a motion to dismiss the
suit March 29, arguing that the plaintiffs did not meet
notice requirements for citizen suits brought under the
Clean Water Act (CWA) because they identified only one
source of the pollution and otherwise made “broad” al-
legations of discharges from unspecified locations at the
farm.

The defendants also alleged that the environmen-
tal groups failed to state a claim on which relief can be
granted under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) and
did not prove the existence of an “ongoing violation” at
the farm.

Judge Nickerson disagreed, finding the plaintiffs’ no-
tice met the statutory obligation to identify the point
source and the dates of the alleged illegal discharges.

“Here, plaintiffs’ notice identified the point source as
the Hudson Farm, which defendants do not dispute is a
concentrated animal feeding operation under the CWA.
Thus, no further description of the location of the viola-
tion in the notice is necessary,” he said.

However, he granted the defendants’ request to re-
move Assateague Coastkeeper, Assateague Coastal Trust
and Phillips from the suit because they were not properly
identified in the notice letter.

Judge Nickerson also rejected Perdue’s contention
that it should be dismissed from the suit because it is
an “integrator” at the farm and not required to obtain
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an NPDES discharge permit. Integrators are large pro-
cessing and wholesaling companies, like Perdue, that
contract with many small farmers to raise food products
under their specifications and control.

Numerous federal courts have previously held that the
Clean Water Act imposes liability on both the party that
actually performed the work and the party that exercised
control over performance of the work, the judge said.

Noting that an integrator’s liability is determined
by its level of control over its contractors’ chicken op-
erations, the judge said Waterkeeper Alliance’s lawsuit
makes a plausible claim that Perdue may be responsible
for the alleged pollution.

RCRA

ENGINE PARTS MAKER'S SALE OF USED SOLVENT
VIOLATED RCRA

Howmet Corp. v. EPA

Note: The following appeared in the August 25 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3307505. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

With one dissent, a panel of the District of Columbia
U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has ruled that a manu-
facturer of turbine engine parts violated the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) when it shipped
used solvent to a fertilizer maker without first obtaining
a permit. Howmet Corp. v. E.P.A., 2010 WL 3063262
(D.C. Cir. 2010).

Howmet Corp. filed suit under the Administrative
Procedure Act, challenging penalties levied against it by
the Environmental Protection Agency under RCRA, 42
US.C.A. § 321.

According to the opinion, Howmet, which manufac-
tured casings for aircraft turbines, used liquid potassium
hydroxide as a cleaning agent. It then shipped the used
solvent to Royster-Clark Inc., a fertilizer manufacturer,
for use in its products.

The EPA learned of the sales and fined Howmet,
saying the solvent qualified as “spent material” under
RCRA and was subject to hazardous-waste regulations.

U.S. District Judge Emmet G. Sullivan of the District
of Columbia granted summary judgment to the EPA.

Howmet appealed, arguing that the solvent did not
have a single “purpose” as defined by RCRA and so
could be used as both a solvent and a fertilizer ingredient
without qualifying as a spent material.

The appeals court rejected that argument and affirmed
the lower court’s ruling.
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Judge Janice Rogers Brown, writing for the one ma-
jority, held that even though the word “purpose” as used
in RCRA was ambiguous, the law included the phrase
“purpose for which it was produced” in its definition of
“spent material.”

A solvent used to make fertilizer after it had been used
to clean metal castings was exactly the type of product
that the EPA sought to regulate as “spent material,” she
wrote. Furthermore, Howmet had fair notice of the way
in which the EPA was interpreting the phrase “spent ma-
terial” because it was described in the agency’s guidance
manual, the judge said.

Judge Brett Kavanaugh dissented, finding that the
EPA’s interpretation of “purpose” as only the purpose
for which it was produced was “flatly inconsistent” with
the law.

“As a matter of plain English, the purposes for which
a material is produced are not limited to how the mate-
rial is initially used by a purchaser,” he said.

ECONOMIC-LOSS DOCTRINE

ECONOMIC-LOSS DOCTRINE BARS GAS
STATION’S RECOVERY OF CLEANUP COSTS

GCM Air Group v. Chevron USA

Note: The following appeared in the August 11 2010,
Westlaw Journal Express Environmental, 2010 WL
3119617. Copyright © 2010 Thomson Reuters.

The economic-loss doctrine bars economic recovery
for a property owner whose land was contaminated
through its use as a Chevron USA service station, the
Ninth U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals has determined.
GCM Air Group, LLC v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., 2010
WL 2781874 (9th Cir. 2010).

Property owner GCM Air Group argued Chevron
USA failed to meet its contractual obligations to clean up
the Lake Tahoe site after its underground storage tanks
leaked gasoline into the surrounding soil.

GCM said it was unable to sell or rent the property
because of environmental concerns.

According to the opinion, GCM first filed suit against
Chevron in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Nevada, alleging negligence and trespass. The company
claimed Chevron was negligent because it improperly
installed monitoring equipment, failed to create a cost-
effective and comprehensive cleanup plan, and never ob-
tained a “no further action” letter from environmental
regulators.
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In the separate trespass claim, GCM contended leaked
gasoline contaminated a neighboring property it owned
upon which a restaurant was situated.

The district court awarded summary judgment to
Chevron on all claims, including its request for attor-
neys’ fees.

GCM appealed to the Ninth Circuit, which agreed
with the district court that the economic-loss doctrine
applies. The doctrine can be invoked to bar tort claims
that amount to contract failures, the panel said.

Chevron’s cleanup efforts met the terms of its leasing
and other contractual agreements with GCM, the court
explained.

Citing Terracon Consultants Western, Inc. v. Manda-
lay Resort Group, 206 P.3d 81 (Nev. 2009), Ninth Cir-
cuit noted the Nevada Supreme Court has sharply delin-

© 2010 Thomson Reuters

eated the boundary between contract law and tort law in

applying the economic-loss doctrine.

The appeals court also cited Giles v. General Mo-
tors Acceptance Corp., 494 E3d 865 (9th Cir. 2007), in
which it held the economic-loss doctrine bars tort claims
amounting to “nothing more than a failure to perform a
promise contained in a contract.”

However, the panel resurrected GMC’s trespass claim,
finding fact issues as to whether a trespass occurred un-
der state law. Because it overruled the district court on
this issue, it also said the award of attorney fees to Chev-

ron must be reconsidered.

The court remanded the case for further proceedings.
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